





OSLO AND AKERSHUS UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF APPLIED SCIENCES



Carla Colombati

User Experience (UX) and user engagement: a case study

Supervisor: Anna Maria Tammaro

Master thesis International Master in Digital Library Learning 2015

Abstract

Title: User Experience (UX) and user engagement: a case study - Carla Colombati

Aim and objectives

The aim of the study is to understand to what extent User Experience strategies may positively impact users' perception in a digital context such as the E-learning ones given by MOOCs, and to what extent User Experience is mostly enhanced by the technical and, or, human factor. The objectives are to discover if User Experience strategies allow and enhance users' engagement in a digital learning context such as a MOOC, and to identify and clarify User Experience key drivers that boost the use of a digital learning environment such as a MOOC.

Background

E-learning environment such as MOOCs are on the cutting-edge nowadays. Another topic is nowadays on the cutting-edge and it is related to User Experience strategies that can boost users' in the human and technical (digital) interaction with a context or a product. The User Experience may be positively exploited in MOOCs to set users' engagement in the E-learning experience.

Methodology

The project research has chosen the single instrumental case study as qualitative research method developed with an online questionnaire, participants' interactions observation and document analysis as data collection technique.

Discussion

The research has explored the impact of User Experience strategies over participants' engagement and focused on the preferred key drivers for their experience

Conclusion

Participants have expressed their enthusiasm for all learning activities in which the interaction had been achieved through human assistance or review. The overall class has played a great role to enhance the learning experience according to the connectivist approach but the greater role have been attributed to author, co-authors and tutor. So the User Experience strategies still recall the importance of the human side in users' engagement.

Keywords

e-learning; massive open online course; mooc; user Experience; ux; users'engagement

Declaration and Plagiarism disclaimer

I certify that all material in this dissertation which is not my own work has been identified and that no material is included for which a degree has previously been conferred upon me.

Carla Colombati_____

(Submitted electronically and unsigned)

Acknowledgments

I have been so happy to participate to this amazing experience: the DILL Master.

The DILL Master is above all an experience of personal growth, then come the professional one. I have had great Professors and classmates who made me feel confortable and opened my mind and have enhanced my knowledge.

I would like to use this section to thank those who have played a great role in these years, all Professors: Ragnar Nordlie, Niels Pharo, Sirje Virkus, Ara Lepik, Pat Dixon, Vittore Casarosa, Francesco Zanichelli. I add also Rosanna De Rosa for the opportunity to study the DLPP MOOC.

A special mention goes to Graham Walton and Anna Maria Tammaro. I am deeply grateful to them because they have taken care of my professional and human advancement as mentors and supervisors. With them I have been involved in UX topic and more, in knowledge sharing.

In this path I have met four incredible women and practitioners who have supported me in an incredible way, these are now in my group, the DILL Team: Valentina, Sofia, Elena, Sara, you all are more than colleagues, more than friends, I will never forget all our crazy moments and all goals we achieved together.

In these years my family has supported me in a unique way and they have always given me the strength to work, study and stay with their love: thanks Mamma Dina, Paola, Maria Cristina, Luigi and Mauro; also a great thanks goes to my little Italian, Brasilian and Argentinian cousins who have supported me.

I add also other italian colleagues with whom I share ideas and friendship: Agnese, Elena Carolis, Stefania, an my boss Monia.

Finally I thank my friends and spiritual family: Anna, Alessandra, P. Aleandro and my almighty God for the great trust he has in me and for all love I receive each day.

"For a more useful and understandable world" (Craig M. MacDonald, Pratt Institute School of Information, New York, U.S.A.)

"In a world where the user is king/queen, UX can only increase in importance" (Graham Walton, Loughbororugh University Library, Loughborough, UK.)

Table of contents

List of abbreviations	6
List of figures	6
Chapter 1: Introduction	9
Background	9
Motivation	9
Research question, aims and objectives	14
Methodology	16
Limitations of the research and bias	17
Ethical considerations	18
Chapter 2: Literature review	19
Search strategy	19
Massive Open Online Courses MOOCS	20
User Engagement UE	26
User Experience UX	30
Chapter 3: Research design	34
Philosophical foundations for qualitative research	34
Research Paradigm	35
Trustworthiness	36
Research method	
Data Collection Methods	
Data Analysis and Interpretation	42
Chapter 4: findings, analysis and discussion	43
The case study: The Digital Library in principle and practice MOOC in the EMMA platform	43
Findings, analysis and discussion	46
Chapter 5: Conclusions, recommendations, further research and issues	71
Conclusions based on research questions and objectives	72
Recommendations and further research	73
References	74
References	74
Websites	92

List of abbreviations

cMOOC	Connectivist Massive Open Online Course
DLs	Digital LIbraries
DLLPP MOOC	Digital Library in Principle and Practice MOOC
EMMA	European Multiple MOOC Aggregator
HCI	Human Computer Interaction
MOOC	Massive Open Online Course
UE	User engagement
UX	User Experience
xMOOC	traditional University Massive Open Online Course

List of figures

Gray, D. E. (2014). Doing Research in the Real World, p. 19
Hill, P. (July 24, 2012). Four Barriers That MOOCs Must Overcome To Build a
Sustainable Model. Avalilable at: http://mfeldstein.com/four-barriers-that-
moocs-must-overcome-to-become-sustainable-model/
Yuan. L. (May 11, 2015). MOOCs and Open Education Timeline (updated!).
Available at: http://blogs.cetis.org.uk/cetisli/2015/05/11/moocs-and-open-
education-timeline-updated/
Learning in a MOOC (free adaption from De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015)
User engagement in a MOOC (free adaption from De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson
, 2015)
Participants' background

Interaction	52
Co-creation	53
Peer assessment	54
Key drivers facilitating the e-learning process in the Community	55
Difficulties preventing the e-learning process in the Community	56
Blog	58
Newsletters	59
Tutor's role	60
Facebook	61
Twitter	62
GooglePlus	63
Homework assignment	64
Quiz assignment	65
Guided conversation	66
Learning material	67
Teacher and co-authors' roles	68
Tools facilitating participants engagement	69
Difficulties preventing participants engagement	70

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background

E-learning environment such as MOOCs are on the cutting-edge nowadays. MOOCs enable participants' to achieve specific learning outcomes useful for personal and professionals goals. Another topic is nowadays on the cutting-edge and it is related to User Experience strategies that can boost users' in the human and technical (digital) interaction with a context or a product. The User Experience may be positively exploited in MOOCs to set users' engagement in the E-learning experience.

Motivation

The researcher has chosen to study User Experience and user engagement in a MOOC for specific different reasons, personals, professionals, and intellectuals, expressed by these following words:

Every researcher begins with certain goals and a substantial base of experience and theoretical knowledge, and these inevitably highlight certain problems or issues and generate questions about these (Maxwell, 2005, p. 65). The researcher describes which motivations are under the research topic.

1. Personal reasons

Personal reasons (called goals by Maxwell, 2005, pp. 16-21 or touchstone by Strausss & Corbin, 1990, pp. 35-36) cover great importance for "motivation" and may influence the methodology choice too.

During the DILL (Digital Library Learning) Master internship at Loughborough University Library, the supervisor Dr. Graham Walton involved the researcher in a project study about Loughborough University Library's digital services: exploring the User Experience (UX). The topic of User Experience became of a great interest for her so that she wanted to continue in her country the research with an italian specific context to explore. In the following period it was an issue to identify a Library context to investigate according to the User Experience and it seemed to her that the specific User Experience topic was not applied to digital libraries by the side of social research. She was aware the User Experience was investigated by the technological side, being the Human Computer Interaction (HCI) its origins, but specific studies in the libraries fields, taking care more of users' interaction within the Information Behavior theory embedded, were found mostly in foreign studies and in some italian studies. So, further researcher's steps have been to get acquainted with some interesting studies and researches led abroad (Connaway, 2013a, Connaway, Hood, Lanclos, White, Le Cornu, 2013, OCLC, 2014, Walton, 2015, Burn, Cunningham, Waller, Walton, & Walton, G., 2016, MacDonald, 2015) and to study italian studies about the users' interaction within digital library services or users' information behavior in the digital era (Rogani, 2007, Tammaro, Luzzi & Casati, 2006, Tammaro, 2006, 2008, 2015, 10

Consonni, 2010, Dobreva, O'Dwyer & Feliciati, 2012, Feliciati, 2012, 2014, 2016, Feliciati & Alfier, 2013a, 2013b, 2017).

The opportunity to explore the topic arrived with the *Digital Library in principle and practice* MOOC¹ which matched with the researcher interests on Digital Libraries, E-Learning, Open Education, MOOCs, User Experience and the users' engagement in completing the MOOC. The researcher found that the specific context of the MOOC, with the topic of the Digital Libraries, participants coming from a wide range of background and professions, users' interaction with the overall platform, learning documents and especially with the human interactions too, could be a case study to get an insight about the User Experience in a Elearning environment such as a MOOC, this last mentioned so on the cutting-edge nowadays.

2. Professional reasons

According to Maxwell (2005, pp. 21-25) a researcher is pushed also by practical goals which enable him/her in "*accomplishing* something". In that case she wanted to get acquainted with User Experience not only in theory but also in practice.

The researcher's first aim was to improve the use of User Experience in the Italian academic environment with a specific regard to digital libraries context. As she

¹ The Digital Library in principle and practice MOOC, guested by EMMA (European Multiple MOOC aggregator) Platform, was led by Prof. Anna Maria Tammaro and others co-authors: Liliana Melgar, Eric Boamah, Getaneh Alemu, Elena Giusti. The MOOC started on the 12th April 2016 and ended on the 31st July 2016 but it was left open until the 2nd edition of February 2017.

worked in an academic library she was aware of users' behaviors and feelings when searching through digital tools for information and documents useful and relevant for their needs. Users' research experience in technological-digital context has opened a new frontier to investigate. In foreign countries many studies focus on this topic (Connaway, 2013a, Connaway, Hood, Lanclos, White, Le Cornu, 2013, OCLC, 2014, Walton, 2015, Burn, Cunningham, Waller, Walton, & Walton, G., 2016, MacDonald, 2015) and in many libraries abroad the User Experience Librarian has become a new professional role. In the academic field learning has moved on E-learning and in Open education settings to involve a greater number of users², academics, and courses. This new landscape was considered a further, rich and challenging point of view to investigate User Experience in the E-learning environment, even more that around 2014-2016 in the Italian academic context new MOOCs platforms were launched such as EduOpen and EMMA (European Multiple MOOC Aggregator).

² In this case the researcher has preferred to use the term users, which will be used together with participants, instead of students, because the new educational environment encompasses a wider classification of enrolled people (professionals who need to achieve further titles or competences, students who need to get a degree, and those who simply desire to stay informed).

3. Intellectual reasons

Maxwell (2005) enumerates five intellectual goals to undertake a qualitative research which are useful for "*understanding* something":

- "Understanding the *meaning*, for participants in the study, of the events, situations, experiences, and actions they are involved with or engage it"
 [...].
- 2. "Understanding the particular *context* within which the participants act, and the influence that this context has on their actions" [...].
- 3. "Identifying *unanticipated* phenomena and influences, and generating new, "grounded" theories about the latter" v.
- 4. "Understanding the *process* by which events and actions take place" [...].
- 5. "Developing casual explanations" [...] (Maxwell, 2005, pp. 22-25).

User Experience and MOOCs theories, studies and cases have an extensive range of views and applications. Recently the two topics have been stressed together to get some data related to MOOCs explosion and users' involvement but there are still some misunderstanding. The researcher thought has been that the Library and Information Science background could be useful to get another insight to the two topics above described. Librarians' reference expertise is still relevant and useful for users who may require help for searches, according to their background of lack of knowledge. As librarians' reference competence is still relevant (MacDonald, 20152015, it would be useful also to exploit their competence to add value to digital services (digital libraries, e-learning platforms) to support, address and improve users' interactions with technological resources.

The researcher thought has been led by the hope to explore the cited MOOC and to get data to *understand* the impact of User Experience over the MOOC and users and to *accomplish* further studies with other colleagues in the Italian context still in the same topic and with similar cases.

Research question, aims and objectives

The researcher has planned an investigation to have an insight of the issues that users had encountered in their whole e-learning experience in the MOOC, especially to understand which elements have been really useful to engage them and to explore which User experience strategies could improve the best user engagement.

Statement of the problem

The MOOC has presented many users' interaction sides: a. the connectivist learning one; b. the technical one (given by the platform and other tools); c. the human interaction one (the whole class with the author, co-authors and the tutor). Along the e-learning experience users have managed many constraints and have been supported to face them mostly by the main author, co-authors and tutor, less by the overall class, and they have felt to be highly engaged by the overall experience so that the MOOC outcomes and conclusion could be achieved. The

user engagement has come out as the main obstacle in the MOOC and this topic is the core of the research linked to User experience strategies.

Research question, aim and objectives

More than one aspects have emerged but the underlying theme focuses on users' engagement in the MOOC and how this challenge can be satisfied with User Experience strategies.

Research question 1

How do participants perceive the User Experience strategies as key drivers for their engagement in the *Digital Library in principle and practice* MOOC?

Research question 2

How do User Experience strategies impact the users' engagement in the *Digital Library in principle and practice* MOOC?

Aim

To understand to what extent User Experience strategies may positively impact users' perception in a digital context such as the E-learning ones given by MOOCs, and to what extent User Experience is mostly enhanced by the technical and, or, human factor.

Objective 1

To discover if User Experience strategies allow and enhance users' engagement in a digital learning context such as a MOOC.

Objective 2

To identify and clarify User Experience key drivers that boost the use of a digital learning environment such as a MOOC.

Methodology

The researcher has found the constructionism epistemology useful for her purposes for many reasons, such as:

Constructionism is not a unified program. [...]. It informs a lot of qualitative research programs with the approach that the realities we study are social products of the actors, of interactions, and institutions. Seen in this way, knowledge organizes experiences, which first permit cognition of the world beyond the experiencing subject. Experiences are structured and understood through concepts and contexts, which are constructed by this subject (Flick, 2009, pp. 69-70).

Under the constructionism epistemology, interpretivism assumes the role of theoretical perspective because helps to understand the reality and to construct knowledge (Gray, 2014, p. 23).



Figure 2.2 Relationship between epistemology, theoretical perspectives, methodology and research methods

Source: Adapted from Crotty, 1998

Gray, D. E. (2014). Doing Research in the Real World, p. 19

The underlined framework suggests the qualitative research approach to undertake the study to get answers to the research questions, aim and objectives. The qualitative research implies an overall understanding of participants involved in a specific context and process. The researcher has chosen the single instrumental case study as qualitative research method for the iterative procedure that the method implies and because it is useful to get an "insight into an issue or to redraw a generalization" (Stake, 2003, p. 137).

Data collection technique is the fourth step of this research design – 1st. constructivism epistemology, 2nd. interpretivism theoretical perspective, 3rd. qualitative research methodology with a single and instrumental case study. Triangulation in case studies enable to reduce threats (Maxwell, 2005, p. 93), to acquire a holistic view and to get specific insights too in a rich and complex context. The triangulation in the *Digital Library in principle and practice* case study has been accomplished with an online questionnaire, the participants' interaction observation and the document analysis.

The sample was given by the *Digital Library in principle and practice* MOOC participants, considering teacher and tutor too for the document analysis and participant observation.

The data collect have been analysed recurring to the "constant comparative analysis"

Limitations of the research and bias

The researcher has faced many issues to start the investigation and to analyse data. The great challenge has been to focus the topic, which still has a broad meaning, according to each discipline it is embedded in, and to examine the several User Experience strategies. The MOOC has had an impressive participants' interactions and documents productions, so that the researcher has established some choices to limit the overall document analysis to those considered relevant. Bias are related mostly to "misinterpreting" the data collected (Maxwell, 2005, pp. 108-114, pp. 209-235) or researcher's unawareness or inexperience and the need to repeat the research with multiple case study (Connaway & Powell, 2010, p. 80).

Ethical considerations

The researcher has provided an anonymous online questionnaire assuring confidentiality to participants and to limit the interaction with the participants of the MOOC.

Chapter 2: Literature review

Search strategy

The search strategy has been undertaken during the whole internship and thesis stages. The researcher has taken care of the previous literature review already done to accomplish her Project work at Loughborough University Library for the DILL Master internship.

The main keywords exploited have been: "user experience", "user engagement", MOOC, cMOOC, connectivism. These keywords have been searched alone and together, adding the filters, when possible, to limit the results to social sciences and humanities fields. Citations, downloading, pertinence, and newness have been the preferred criteria to choose among all documents. The databases exploited were mixed, commercial and free, citational ones such as Scopus and Web of Science, and citational search engines such as Google Scholar and Google Books too. References have been looked up in bibliographic subject database too: LISA (Library and Information Science Abstracts), Library, Information Science and Technology Abstracts (LISTA), Library and Information Science Source (LISS), E-prints in Library and Information Science (E-LIS), EBSCO Host Research database, Emerald journals collection, ACM DL Digital Library. The references have been added in an excel file converted in a google sheet using these yardsticks: a separate sheet labeled with the search plus the keyword/keywords (for alone keyword or mixed keywords) adding a citation information and the date of the search; the selected references have been added in a new sheet, the final one. At the beginning the researcher has used Mendeley, that she already knew,

but she has preferred to use the sheet system and to work manually on referencing according to the American Psychological Association's (APA) style chosen.

All the commercial databases have been accessed through DILL Master Universities' resources (Oslo and Akershus University College of Applied Sciences - HiOA, Tallin University, University of Parma) that have been really useful for researcher's bibliographical needs.

The researcher has found a great challenge to not get overwhelmed with all concepts, theories and frameworks which could be covered in the master thesis: these rich entries have been left in the thesaurus for further investigations. Here she has presented only an overview about Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs), user engagement and User Experience (UX).

Massive Open Online Courses MOOCS

MOOCs background

"Open online courses" developed their setting around 2007 and they represented a great change in the educational environment which turned from "a contentcentered model towards 'socialization as information objects'" (Fini, 2009, p. 3 and Siemens, 2009, as cited by Fini). Open Online Courses, the prototypes of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs), rapidly increased their impact in Open Online Learning and presented characteristics which were key drivers and challenges in the meanwhile, still present today: a new learning model, a great number of participants, a different way of interaction among teachers and participants, classes composed by learners with different backgrounds and professional expertise and different learning outcomes (Fini, 2009, p. 3). Dabbagh et al. (2016) in few words describe the essential components of MOOCs:

The term MOOC was coined in 2008 by Dave Cormier to describe the Connectivism and Connective Knowledge (CCK08) course and highlight the key characteristics of this new pedagogical model.

Massive —there is no limit on attendance;

Open —free of charge and accessible to anyone with internet connection;

Online —delivered via the internet; and

Courses ----structured around a set of goals in a specific area of study

(Fini 2009; McAuley et al. 2010, as cited by Dabbagh et al. 2016, p. 2).

In *The MOOC guide* (Downes, s.d.) an easy MOOC timeline history helps to follow this phenomena in its development: in 2007 the *Wiley Wiki* was the prototype of educational online resource which allowed participants to interact in the learning process adding themselves content too in a wiki platform; in 2007 Alec Couros offered online synchronous courses (webinars) about *Social Media and Open Education* using a wiki space; in 2008 George Siemens, from Athabasca University, and Stephen Downes, from the National Research Council, led an online course about *Connectivism and Connective Knowledge (CCK08)*. This specific course is considered the MOOC preliminary example because: its class was formed by 25 students belonging to the University of Manitoba, paying students, and about 2200 online students who could participate freely and from a

wide range of educational and professional backgrounds; the learning system and pedagogy was set to embed Open Educational Resources (OER) with contents developed by the overall class by means of various collaborative tools and in online platforms which allowed an asynchronous learning too. In 2008 Cormier called these kind of courses MOOCs, after the talk he had with Siemens to have insights about the *CCKK08* course.

In 2011 MOOCs spread in education environments, especially in universities thanks to Thrun and Norvig who offered a course about *Artificial Intelligence* at the Stanford University. This course got many participants (160,000 students) and it was the tipping point for several students, for Thurn himself who involved his forces in Udacity, a platform for technologic and science MOOCS, and for MOOC platforms. The other MOOCs platforms came quickly after: Coursea, edX, and today the phenomena as reached a great impact over educational environments thanks to new institutional and inter-institutionals platforms which are continuously delivered (Morrison, 2013).



Here below the figures depict the MOOCs and Online Education timelines:

Hill, P. (July 24, 2012). Four Barriers That MOOCs Must Overcome To Build a Sustainable Model. Available at: http://mfeldstein.com/four-barriers-that-moocs-must-overcome-to-become-sustainable-model/



MOOCs models

In 2012 both Siemens and Downes wrote their opinions about the spreading of platforms and about the pedagogical theories, giving different insights. The two researchers, who led together the first MOOC, expressed divergences about the models and pedagogic theories (Siemens, 2012, Downes, 2012).

MOOCs development is tied to its pedagogical model and to the learning environment too: the cMOOCs model, which came as the first one, and the xMOOCs, which is the last on scene. Both models have been theorized by Siemens and Downes to explain the difference among them, and both have given a particular significance to the Connectivism or Connectivist theory.

The cMOOCs model has its origins in the Connectivism learning model developed firstly by Siemens, and in a second moment by Downes too. In particular Siemens (2005) has invented the word to explain this learning theory in which individual, network, knowledge and organizations are the main points:

The starting point of connectivism is the individual. Personal knowledge is comprised of a network, which feeds into organizations and institutions, which in turn feed back into the network, and then continue to provide learning to individual. This cycle of knowledge development (personal to network to organization) allows learners to remain current in their field through the connections they have formed (Siemes, 2004).

cMOOCs has increased the network learning idea with digital platform tools development too (tools such as blog, wiki-spaces, video lectures, forum, quiz assignment, other kind of assignments, project works, conversations, peer 24

assessment, newsletters, e-mails, social networks). In this creative learning environment the network works with community interactions and contents generated, empowering knowledge. Usually cMOOCs platform are linked to individuals or to organizations which use open source web platforms, and exploit strongly digital tools and social networks, and any other relevant learning or communicating technical tool (Morrison, 2013, Universities UK, 2013, Espada, Rodriguez, Garcia-Diaz, & Crespo, 2014, Baturay, 2015, Dabbagh & el, 2016). The xMOOCs model came after with peculiar and different characteristics and was examined by Siemens and Downes too. According to Siemens xMOOCs differ from cMOOCs in the way they manage knowledge: in cMOOCs knowledge is created while in xMOOCs knowledge is replicated (he used the terms "knowledge duplication", Siemens, 2012). xMOOCs are often embedded in high level universities with all related services, belonging to proprietary web platforms, and exploiting a traditional and cognitive learning (Siemens, 2012). Maybe for Siemens the xMOOCs presence on the e-learning scene was quite normal, in a blog post he underlined some characteristic of both models and ended stating "MOOCs are really a platform", without giving emphasis to one model over the other one (Siemens 2012; see also Downes, 2012, at p. 63 where he argues about Siemens' "vagueness", or Downes, 2013 about "What the 'x' in 'xMOOC' stands for"; see also Morrison, 2013, University UK, 2013, Espada, Rodriguez, Garcia-Diaz, & Crespo, 2014, Baturay, 2015, Dabbagh & al., 2016). According to these statements in cMOOCs the learning process is fostered by participants' networks, collaboration, actions and practices using various tools. In Cormier and Siemens, in and Downes works (Cormier & Siemens, 2010, Downes,

2012) also user engagement is considered an important key driver to boost their participation in the MOOC.

User Engagement UE

User engagement in the technological context

In their works O'Brien and Toms have studied user engagement in technological context and they have tried to propose a user engagement evaluation framework. User engagement are two terms related to "peoples' experiences with technology, specifically the user interaction with a system. It is called also "user-sytem interaction" and it is considered "a desirable—even essential—human response to computer-mediated activities" (Laurel, 1993, p. 112 as cited by O'Brien, & Toms, 2008, p. 939). In 2008 they find that user engagement within a technological context has these:

four distinct stages: point of engagement, period of sustained engagement, disengagement, and reengagement [...] (O'Brien, & Toms, 2008, p. 939),

and they propose:

a definition of engagement [...] as a quality of user experience characterized by attributes of challenge, positive affect, endurability, aesthetic and sensory appeal, attention, feedback, variety/novelty, interactivity, and perceived user control (O'Brien, & Toms, 2008, p. 939).

They underline another focus which is present in italian studies too (Alfier & Feliciati, 2017) and Rosati (2017): engagement study relies on "engaging

interactions" and this relation interests "both users and developers of computer systems and applications" (Blythe, Overbeeke, Monk, & Wright, 2003, as cited by O'Brien, & Toms, 2008, p. 939).

Users engagement in a MOOC

MOOC attract massive participant but the course completion does not match with the same of all enrolled. De Freitas et al. (2015) sum up some findings about MOOC key drivers and issues. As key drivers they list: short duration; massive participation; different participants background; extra formal learning; blended learning, combining face-to-face video lectures or video conference so that synchronous communication is taken in account too (by De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015, p. 460).

In the same study they rate as extremely important for users engagement these outcomes:

- Game-based or gamification elements.
- Interactive digital content.
- Quizzes and immediate feedback.
- Correct difficulty level personalised to student.
- Link to longer course and deeper learning materials.

• Real world challenges and testing (De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, (2015, p. 455).

The focus takes the direction to build "student-centred" MOOC to boost their engagement and to pursuit their "retention" (De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015, p. 457).

In the study they emphasize issue too, the quality of learning and the way to manage retention and completion. Accessibility and usability play a great role to retain customers, social interactions, such as "interactive assignments", peer assessment De Freitas, Morgan & Gibson 2015, pp. 460-4624)

De Freitas, Morgan & Gibson present a rich insight of MOOC issues, key drivers and they elaborate a new MOOC model too:

access to course materials, notes and assignments, webinars, video lectures, discussion fora, other social software support such as Twitter and Facebook groups, translations of some content into different languages, quizzes for assessment, and automated assessment tools. But to ensure retention rates are higher, future MOOCs would do well to integrate a suite of additional tools, including automatic translation tools, data capture learning analytics, and games and gamification elements to enliven course materials and assignments, as this would likely have a significant positive impact upon retention [...] the authors propose a 'third model' (beyond xMOOC and cMOOC) for MOOC and online learning development, using one-third of the experience presenting video and audio materials, one-third devoted to activities including interactive media as well as quizzes and assignments, and one-third of the time for social interactions. (De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015, pp. 468-469).

A final authors' statement is central. It concerns learning which has a new direction: it is moving from curriculum-focused to experience-centred design (De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015, p. 469).

Authors propose these new concepts/models:



Learning in a MOOC (free adaption from De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015)



User engagement in a MOOC (free adaption from De Freitas, Morgan, & Gibson, 2015).

User Experience UX

UX background

In literature many works refer to User Experience as a wide concept: "UX is a broadly defined term, including attainment of behavioral goals, satisfaction of non-instrumental (or hedonic) needs, and acquisition of positive feeling and well-being." (Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006). There is no agreed statement but many definitions refere to the discipline with whom User Experience is studied (Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006, Kuniavski, 2010, p. 14). So, there is no "unified" statement or evaluation method on UX (Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006).

Law et al. explored three "metrics" from Usability, a concept more related to technological side [environment]: "effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction" and state that actual User Experience try to work on "satisfaction" exploring its main characteristics: "fun, pride, pleasure, surprise, intimacy, joy" and some others to have criteria for an UX's evaluation (Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006). Hassenzahl and Tractinsky's evolution of UX studies focused three stages between 90s to 20s in the Human Computer Interaction (by now HCI) field:

- "programmatic in the 90s,
- conceptual in early 2000
- to empirical in mid-2000." (Hassenzahl &Tractinsky, 2006, as cited by Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006). Some aspects were related to this UX evolution in HCI and gave an ample significance, like a switch, from researches on users' interactions with products useful for "individual problem solving" to the those given by a "social" understanding of UX (Alben, 1996, 30

Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006). Law et al. stated that: "The challenge is how to define, theorize, qualify and quantify co-experience, which is clearly not the sum of individual user experience." (Law, Hvannberg, & Hassenzahl, 2006) and that UX grown in a "coherent" way but the methodology should be developed better.

An interesting result was given by Law et al. aim to achieve a "shared understanding that UX needs to clarify and operationalize constructs to be taken seriously within the context of SE or user-centred design. Second, at least some approaches to UX believe that with a proper definition come valid and reliable measures." (Law et al 2006a). Against those who criticized the possibility to evaluate non definable User Experience (emotions, behaviors), in their work Law et al. gave a contribute to search for a "unified view" based on the shared conviction that exploring UX was useful and the next steps should be addressed by design, engineering and research. (Law et al 2006a).

A recent survey study, conducted "amongst 758 practitioners and researchers from 35 nationalities" (Lallemand, Gronier, & Koenig, 2015) has been held to understand if this concept, approached firstly by HCI, and pursued by many disciplines, could be compressed in a shared single statement or should not. The survey study findings were impressive in relation to respondents' nationalities and fields.

Lallemand et al. (2015) proposed a literature review proposing the Barcenilla & Bastien study (2009) on comparing UX and the Hassenzahl (2008) reflections about the boundaries on UX related to the quality of interaction. Until 2000 the various panorama on UX studies proposed many point of views, ans frameworks.

The main evidence is that UX statements and models refer to each discipline framework and that it is mostly used referring it to HCI.

The findings of Lallemand et al.'s survey (2015) may be so listed:

- The User Experience is not "a new concept".
- It cannot be compressed by a quantitative or qualitative research.
- It is not clear if it is individual or social.
- Its definition changes according to respondents' language, age, background, domain.
- It is shared that User Experience statement "should definitely be focused on the user" and by producer.
- The definition should provide to be an umbrella for many aspects.
- This definition should take care of the components of UX and the outcomes of an experience, and it should give both positive and negative feedback.
- The statement should be quickly and shortly understandable but so deep to cover every aspects.
- The statement should be relevant for practice.
- The statement could be really different for an "Academia" or "Industry" environment and while in the industrial side it was more important User Experience for designing products, in the academic side it was often related to study researches (Lallemand et al, 2015).

Lallemand et al.'s final conclusion (2015) was that a "standardized definition" could not be achieved. So the researcher has argued that every discipline or environment could have its own User Experience statement to establish according to its users.

So, what is UX about?

User Experience has its own center in a "user" interaction with a "product, system, or really anything with an interface". This interaction is the so called "User Experience" which is "observable or measurable" (Tullis & Albert, 2013, p. 23). They add their statement about User Experience:

we believe the user experience includes three main defining characteristics:

- A user is involved
- That user is interacting with a product, system, or really anything with an interface
- The users' experience is of interest, and observable or measurable

In the absence of a user doing something, we might just be measuring attitudes and preferences, such as in a political poll or survey about your favorite flavor of ice cream. There has to be behavior, or at least potential behavior, to be considered user experience." (Tullis & Albert, 2013, pp. 22-23).

Chapter 3: Research design

Philosophical foundations for qualitative research

The epistemology - the knowledge theory from the greek "episteme", for "knowledge", and "ology", for "theory" (Connaway & Powell, 2010, p. 29) - The researcher has found the constructivist epistemology useful for her purposes for many reasons, as this one so expressed:

Constructionism is not a unified program. [...]. It informs a lot of qualitative research programs with the approach that the realities we study are social products of the actors, of interactions, and institutions. Seen in this way, knowledge organizes experiences, which first permit cognition of the world beyond the experiencing subject. Experiences are structured and understood through concepts and contexts, which are constructed by this subject (Flick, 2009, pp. 69-70).

Qualitative research presents many sides for a philosophical definition and, as explained later, the term cover like an "umbrella" a wide range of perspectives and application of the methodology so broader called. Merriam (2009) offers a landscape of the different positions about qualitative research interpretations:

Some talk about traditions and theoretical underpinnings (Bogdan &Biklen, 2007), theoretical traditions and orientations (Patton, 2002), theoretical paradigms (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000), worldviews (Cresswell, 2007), or epistemology and theoretical perspectives (Crotty, 1998) (Merriam, 2009, p. 8).

The researcher has chosen the epistemology of constructivism which enable people to understand phenomena as a construction of the reality as social interaction: the "meaning" of a phenomena does not stand alone but comes out with people's significance given in their real-world life and social linking:

Meanings are constructed by human beings as they engage with the world they are interpreting "(Crotty, 1998, pp. 43, as cited by Merriam, 2009, pp. 23).

So, as Merriam marks, qualitative research (he names it "basic qualitative research", 2009, p. 22 ss.) is helpful:

in (1) how people interpret their experiences, (2) how they construct their worlds, and (3) what meaning they attribute to their experiences. The overall purpose is to understand how people make sense of their lives and their experiences. (Merriam, 2009, p. 22).

Research Paradigm

The chosen research methodology is the qualitative one, considered as "A broad term that covers a wide range of techniques and philosophies, thus is not easy to define" (Hennink, Hutter, & Bailey, 2011, pp. 8-9). Doing qualitative research using one or several related research methods implies to be under a particular approach with the aim to explore, examine, analyse and understand in-depth a specific phenomena related to humans' intepretation. The qualitative research helps to have answers such as "why" or "how"
Therefore qualitative research is most suitable for addressing 'why' questions to explain and understand issues or 'how' questions that describe process or behavior. (Hennink, Hutter & Bailey, 2011, p. 10).

As the research context is constituted by a class participating to a MOOC and as the main research question relates in discovering the human and technical techniques (tools, methods, theories) which would engage them the most, the researcher has chosen the qualitative research, a kind of social inquiry.

Qualitative research is an "umbrella term" which covers different research approaches in the human and social fields, among them two stand out: the interpretative and naturalistic ones. With the interpretative approach the qualitative research explores the understanding given by people to their experiences in the real world life, with the naturalistic one the investigation relates more on social meanings in a naturalistic context.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness has been evaluated using Pickard (2007) model where she uses the Lincoln and Guba one (1985) who addressed truth value, applicability, consistency and neutrality. Pickard has proposed a model with these concepts

Credibility

Credibility Is given using a triangulation of data collection techniques, engagement with participants and member checking. For the engagement the researcher used the platform and social network. Data collection has been provided with the use of document analysis, participant observation and online questionnaire. The researcher has not had the time to check the data collected via questionnaire with participants.

Transferability

With transferability it should be possible to repeat the research to another context. The researcher has been captured by the User Experience topic and her first has been to find a library in which to explore the User Experience within digital services. The researcher has the idea to repeat the research again with other MOOCs and with digital libraries context.

Dependability

The researcher has had in the supervisor the guide for the whole process that they have shared via email, google drive tools and skype call. The supervisor has planned two DILL students skype meeting for the overall strategy and many skype call with a restrict DILL group to focus on the research

Confirmability

Confermability has the aim to validate the results and confirm data for the research. All data are stored as documentation and the olnie questionnaire has been sent to supervisor.

Research method

The choice between ethnographic research and case study

User Experience in the context of Libraries or Library and Information Science is almost explored using the ethnographic research methods. In this specific case the researcher's choice has elected the case study and specifically: Digital Library in principle and practice.

As researcher's aim has been to investigate MOOC's actors there has been hesitation if to prefer the observation through ethnography exploration because as stated by Agar (1996) "is the process of engagement and the written account of the engagement" and the "data collection technique is participant observation". Reasoning, the ethnographic research characteristics: no hypothesis to start with, the use of the theoretical framework only for post-it memories and not to drive the research, the long observation on the field and primarily the ethnographic research method is specific to analyse and report more a social and cultural group, and, finally, the researcher should be embedded in the context chosen The study case is perfect for a context with specific boundaries, a specific set of data collection, time sessions for research delimited a priori and, especially because the researcher is an outsider whose aim is to become closer to the study case (Pickard, 2007).

For User Experience investigation in Libraries the ethnographic research method is exploited especially because librarians are really in the field, the observation may last longtime.

Case study has presented more correspondences with researcher's scope:

Case study evidence may come from six sources: documents, archival records, interviews, direct observation, participant-observation, and physical artifacts. Using these six sources calls for mastering different data collection procedures. Throughout, your objective may be to collect data about actual human events and behavior or to capture the distinctive perspectives of the participants in your case study (or both). These extended inquiries mean that case study data collection can require much fieldwork time, including the conduct of prolonged interviews occurring over multiple sittings. (Yin, xxx, p. 154).

Sample

The researcher has chosen MOOC participants as sample and the teacher and tutor have been involved for the documentation analysis and for the participant observation just to receive internal reports.

Data Collection Methods

The researcher has chosen to start with document analysis and participant observation, that she had entering in the platform or following social networks, and an online questionnaire.

Document analysis

The researcher has studied internal and unpublished reports, and published documents (posts on blogs, video on youtube, papers and the technical and

scientific documentation about the EMMA project and platform available on its website).

Participant observation

The researcher has used all learning analitycs, and other reports, the platform and social networks themselves.

Online questionnaire

Timeline

• the questionnaire was launched on the 12th May and closed on 7th July Participants

• 63 persons participated giving their impressions.

Questions

• the researcher addressed 20 questions

All questions were divided in 3 sections.

- Section A: to get personal and confident data about job definition, without gender or age identification. The aim was only to get data about the job.
- Section B: addressing questions to understand the CoPE (Community of practice E-learning) experience in the MOOC "Digital Library in principle and practice" with briefs introduction and statement about the topic, and the aim the researcher was to get but the answers of this section: to know how interaction and co-creation of concepts in the MOOC Community had facilitated participants' learning. In this section participants were asked to reply to:

40

- \circ 5 questions
 - 3 closed questions with a scale grade from 1 to 5
 - 2 open questions to enrich data.
- Section C. related to get data about User Experience engagement giving a brief introduction about the complex User Experience meanings and use in many fields, a statement used for the specific MOOC. In this section the scope is to understand about how all tools listed and all actors involved have stimulated participants' engagement in the MOOC learning experience. In this section participants are asked to reply to:
 - \circ 13 questions
 - 11 closed questions with a scale grade from 1 to 5
 - 2 open questions.

Confidential data

• it was stated that all data would be stored and treated anonymously and confidentially.

Data Analysis and Interpretation

Data have been analysed recurring to constant comparative analysis, method developed by Strauss (1987). The emergent categories have been processed inductively from raw data. The Straus and Corbin model (1998) has been applied with:

1. Open Coding, to identifies concepts by means of similarities and differences among raw data.

- 2. Axial Coding, to identifies categories and subcategories to connect..
- 3. Selective Coding, to advance in the hypothesis.

Chapter 4: findings, analysis and discussion

In this chapter the researcher has described the following sections: the case study presentation, findings, analysis and discussion. The first part is related to the description of the 1st edition of the EMMA MOOC *DLPP Digital Library in principle and practice*, adding some info related about EMMA platform; the second one has been used to present findings given by the collected data with the analysis and discussion.

The case study: The *Digital Library in principle and practice* MOOC in the EMMA platform

EMMA (European Multiple MOOCs Aggregator) platform³

The European Multiple MOOC Aggregator EMMA was launched in 2014 as European project pilot intended to last for 30 months. Funding for the project came by European Union through the CIP (Competitiveness and Innovation Programme) Framework Programme and from interested partners.

The project was specifically devoted to promote European overall identity offering "free, open, online courses" in different languages and about several topics throughout European Universities called to participate. Its aim was at first

³ All information about EMMA project and platform are available on its website, here: https://platform.europeanmoocs.eu/ and more specifically here: http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/.

to become a provider for "multilingual access to European MOOCs". It started with eleven partners thanks to the Italian guidance of Federica Web Learning team from the University of Naples Federico II, with a joint scientific partnership with three "traditional universities" from France, Estonia and Spain (Université de Bourgogne, Tallinn University, and Universitat Politècnica de València) and three "Open Universities" from Spain, Netherlands, and Portugal (Universitat Oberta De Catalunya, Open Universiteit Nederland, and Universidade Aberta). Some enterprises belong to the partnership too with technical, marketing and research strategy roles: CSP – Innovazione Nelle ICT S.C.A R.L. (Italy), for the technical platform side, ATOS (Belgium), to maxime the impact, IPSOS srl. (Italy), for marketing and researching over users and stakeholders, and ATiT (Belgium), for the dissemination plan.

Technically EMMA offers two ways to adhere to MOOCs learning strategies:

as an aggregator and hosting system of courses produced by European universities and as a system that enables learners to construct their own courses using units from MOOCs as building blocks. The EMMA team is taking a deliberate multilingual, multi-cultural approach to learning by offering inbuilt translation and transcription services for courses hosted on the platform (from EMMA website project information: http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/about/)

The Digital Library in principle and practice MOOC⁴

The DLPP *Digital Library in principle and practice* MOOC comes out from an intuition of Anna Maria Tammaro (University of Parma in Italy) whose aim has been to share with teachers and students her expertise of Digital libraries to boost their use as special contexts (as means of repositories, laboratories and set tools) in which Lifelong learning could be enhanced.

The course has been attended by more than 650 users (with 12% unerollment) belonging to different backgrounds:

with a clear majority of teachers (46%) and other educators as « digital activists » and professional trainers (15%) in training companies. A small percentage (only 13%) was made up of professionals and students of LIS and cultural heritage. The rest of the participants were simply interested people in digital libraries (Tammaro, 19 July, 2016).

Tammaro has decided to develop an e-learning "community" in which the cMOOC method could enable their learning needs in a participatory and active way. The course has involved other co-authors Liliana Melgar, Eric Boamah, Getaneh Alemu, and Elena Giusti as co-auhot and e-tutor too.

The learning contents have been provided by author, co-authors, e-tutor and the overall class, with video lectures, assignments, final project work, quiz,

⁴ The description is based on documents listed in Document and analysis and Websites sections.

newletters, social networks discussion, conversation on blog and on forums, to activate the content co-creation and production.

The MOOC was delivered between April and May 2016 with the overall class interacting according to scheduled timeline for assignments and final project work. After the end of May the course was left open till the 2nd edition was offered from February to March 2017 in "self-paced" modality, that is to say that in this "silent" phase the interaction with teachers and tutor could be avoided or reduced and learners themselves could set a personal timeline to accomplish assignments.

Findings, analysis and discussion

Document analysis

Anna Maria Tammaro (June 5, 2016) has described in the internal report some first impressions and data got by the questionnaire that participants had to fill at the beginnning of the MOOC.

Here listed by the researcher to get data to match with those of the questionnaire.

Personal data and interests in the MOOC

Participants number was around 650, among them the 12%has unenrolled. The main professional background was at high level and most of them belonged to teachers' role in schools. The provenance was from a good range of foreign country with predominance of Italy. Most of them already had an approach with e-learning training and had declared to be able with time management. The 70% have replied to assure the availability of 2-5 hrs per week to work on the MOOC (but the hours planned wery fixed for a higher range).

Learning Community, social networks and tools

The cMOOC pedagogy has been exploited recurring to the involvement of technical aids and to DILL PhD Teachers from all around the world and to DILL students. Then recurring to the overall class stimulating contents creation with social networks and with newletters.

Learning objectives

The DLPP MOOC has had the aim to get acquainted with Digital Libraries theoretical foundations and technical aspects with the opportunity to choose some DLs as example and to work on a final project related to the creation of a Digital Library. Findings have given a lack in DLs knowledge, a confusion among terms and the difficulties to list real Digital Libraries.

Content creation

The report list all availability of the technological side: how to produce content, how to upload files, video, how to translate and some further information.

Evaluation

Evaluation tools are given by quiz, conversations and assignments, peer assessment and the blog as a way to update the learning as creation and reading. The teacher's evaluation has been exploited in a rich way insiede the platform, recurring to the back –end platform.

Other findings

The platform allows the teacher and the tutor to exploits in a very rich the MOOC engagement, and to adjust it with the tutoring role and the teacher or co-authors participation

Participant observation

In the same report a learning analytics has been produced, classifying the most viewed module (What are DLs) and the conversations which have been followed the most: the one related to DLs. All conversation have been listed too and participants interaction is followed with internal tools.

Teacher's role

The teacher has played an active role to put participants in the connectivism mood, in conversations, blog and other interactions. She has tried to engage users because she was aware of that challenge and the newsletter has been one of the mean to activate participants interaction. She has exploited Facebook too to enhance users involvement also addressing other learning initiative, such as conferences, videos, readings, or sharing job applications too.

The findings of the overall research has showed that the community usually needed a guidance role and the true connectivism was difficult to achieve.

Tutor's role

Elena Giusti (Giusti, 2016) has described her tutor role. The tutor has played an important role too in stimulating and monitoring the overall community in participating in creating knowledge. She has had some main tasks to follow: to

48

manage the online communication; to facilitate the use of technological tools inside the platform; to boost conversation also outside the platform in social networks; to follow all issues, to help for survey too; to follow and elaborate the sentiment analysis too; and to work on newsletters too.

Online questionnaire

In the first section A the researcher's aim has been to get formally data about participants' scholarly and professional background. The goal has been to establish which Community of Practice had taken part to the EMMA MOOC Digital Library principle and practice.

A1. Please, define who you are.



Participants' background

63 persons replied to the questionnaire, so divided in these fields: 38 considered themselves as teachers at all levels plus 1 in the continuing education or in-service facilitators supporting teachers and faculty and plus another 1 educator being part of the educational technology and/or online instruction; 11 belonged to digital libraries field and 9 to the cultural heritage sector, plus 3 persons defining themselves as a librarian, and the other 2 giving no answers about their job or educational path. The composition of the class was various but with a high level of knowledge and educational training.

The section B has been constructed to know which key drivers have boost the elearning process, considering the connectivism pedagogical assumption underpinning the whole MOOC.

In this section 5 questions have been exploited to understand the CoP-E (Community of practice E-learning) experience in the MOOC. A briefs introduction and statement⁵ about the topic has been given. The researcher's aim has been to have an insight to understand more about the interaction, the co-creation of contents, the peer assessment activity, and which other elements have been felt as improving, or obstructing, participants' learning process.

The underpinning pedagogical model of the DLPP MOOC has been the Connectivism which implies that knowledge is built inside the community and by means of the community itself. Even though a participant enrolls him/her/self with no constraints, some may feel inadequacy, inappropriate or meaningless the community activity or can perceive bad feelings with the learning model or content or managed time. By the other side, users may perceive the community activating and reinforcing the learning process and can feel positively it.

The researcher has decided to focus only to main topics given by the literature review as key words: community, interaction, co-creation (creativity), peer assessment.

I

⁵ According to Chikh, Berkani Sarirete, a CoPE is "as a virtual framework for exchanging and sharing technopedagogic knowledge and know-how between actors of e-learning" (Chikh et al., 2007; 2008).

B1. How much the community interaction has been considered a key driver to facilitate the e-learning process: the respondents considered the interaction engaging, considering that the interaction has been valued with this scale: 45 participants gave a rate among the 4^{th} and 5^{th} grade of perception (33,9% level 4 and 42,4% level 5).



The community interaction is a key word in the Connectivist model cMOCC. According to Siemens and Downes the community works as enabling the learning process and as network. Respondents' reply gives a good perception of the community which can be considered useful for its purposes. B.2. How much the CoP-E's co-creation of contents was a key driver to facilitate the e-learning process. The co-creation has been perceived a key driver for 48 users who have gave a perception point rated between the 4^{th} and 5^{th} grade. (42,4% level 4 - 39% level 5).



Co-creation

Another key topic discovered in the literature review has been the importance given to the co-creation process. The perception is good but comparing to the previous question, the 4th grade overpass the 5th, and the the values are really symmetric. Anyway both grades, the 4th and the 5th, express a good perception among users over the co-creation system.

B3. The peer assessment has been a characteristic task, considered strategic in the connectivist pedagogy. The researcher has asked ow much the Peer assessment has been felt a key driver to facilitate the e-learning process in the community. The response has given a lower result, compared to the two previous questions: 38 participants have felt half and half at 4th grade and 5th grade (32,8%) the peer assessment as a mean to facilitate learning process.



The peer assessment present a lower satisfactory perception grade compared to the previous questions. Until now: the community join the 5th grade for 25 persons, so 42%; the co-creation join the 5th grade for 23 persons (39%), while the tird place is reserved to peer assessment with an equal grade satisfaction at 5th and 4th for 38 person (32%+32%).

With two open questions the researcher has tried to capture which other tool had a great impact over users' usefulness in the learning experience.

With the first open question of the section B. respondents have been asked to list other key drivers facilitating the e-learning process, ordering them by importance, with the opportunity to choose more than one. Among 63 respondents, 36 have given their preferences which have been depicted in the cloud according to these entries: activities such as sharing (15 persons), interaction (14 persons) and discussion (11 persons), have been felt greater over all. Other two activities, such as peer assessment and asynchronous learning have been felt with low importance (have been felt so by 5 persons). The offered contents have been listed as important by 5 persons. Other key drivers considered useful, but with less importance, have been the social networks (4 persons), the video lectures (2 persons), the resources given (2 entries). Finally 26 various and single tool have been chosen with only 1 preference.



This open question reflects and confirms previous answers which give more emphasis to the sharing, interaction, discussion activities rather than peer assessment and all others.

Key drivers facilitating the e-learning process in the Community

The second open question has had the intent to discover which factors have been felt as obstructing the learning experience. The respondents have been asked to list other key drivers facilitating the e-learning process, ordering them by importance, with the opportunity to choose more than one. Among 63 respondents. Among 63 respondents, 39 have given their preferences which have been depicted in the cloud according to the following entries and to the major insight that 23 persons have stated that any difficulty has been felt as disengaging their experience. The factors that have been felt as obstacles to the learning experience have grouped as: time constraints (4 persons), assignments (3 persons), the whole MOOC has been considered too demanding (for 2 persons), the social networks have not been appreciated (2 persons) and the tutor and professors guidance have been listed too (2 persons). Other three responses generically have listed, with one entries only, assignment, digital difficulty, internet connection, etc.



Answers rates a satisfaction for 23 over 39 respondents about the good experience perceived in the MOOC.

Difficulties preventing the e-learning process in the Community

The 3^{rd} section C has been developed to get data about their User Experience engagement giving a brief introduction about the complex User Experience meanings and use in many fields, a statement used for the specific MOOC⁶. In this section the scope has been to understand about how all tools listed and all actors involved have stimulated participants engagement in the MOOC learning experience. The section has been constructed with 12 rating questions from 1 to 5 scale and with 2 final open questions trying to collect data about the key drivers boosting, or obstructing, the User Experience in terms of users' engagement.

User Experience can be explored, measured through many elements, usually related only to the technical side. The researcher has developed the questions to get an insight about the human interaction too (given by all actors involved in the e-learning process) and to get awareness about tools felt most useful.

⁶ Lynn Silipigni Connaway explored users engagement in educational and learning environment: "Use what you know, learn what you don't know, engage in new ways" (L. Silipigni Connaway, 2016).

C1. The blog has been rated as stimulating with a preference grade among the 4^{th} and 5^{th} grade by 55 persons.



Having received previous answers, the researcher has been aware that the minimum score between the 4^{th} and 5^{th} grade here listed is not so good as other responses. The blog has of course a good grade of perception but not compared to previous responses.

C2. Newsletters have been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (42,4%) and 5^{th} (28,8%) grade by 42 persons.



The newletters join a good range among the 4th grade of evaluation (25 persons) even if for others it does not seem so useful.

C3. Tutor's role has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (29,8%) and 5^{th} (52,6%) grade by 57 persons.



The tutor's role get a great score for 30 persons and these findings gives an interesting insight of the importance of the guidance roles of those involved by the instructors and human side of the overall e-learning process.

C4. The "Digital Library in principle and practice" Facebook's social network role has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (29,3%) and 5^{th} (44,8%) grade by 33 persons.



Facebook social network is perceived useful by 26% while all other respondents list it less useful. Comparing this data with following social networks rating, Facebook is the preferred one.

C5. The "Digital Library in principle and practice" Twitter's social network role has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (28,6%) and 5^{th} (21,4%) grade by 28 persons.



Twitter

This answers get a percentage range in all grades, reaching only 16 persons who rate it at 4th grade.

C6. The "Digital Library in principle and practice" GooglePlus's social network role has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (29,1%) and 5^{th} (21,8%) grade by 28 persons.



Also GooglePlus, as Twitter, has received a rating in all its grades and can be considered also less useful. Facebook is considered the preferred social network.

C7. The Homework assignment has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 3^{rd} (19%) and the 4^{th} (19%) by 11 persons, and 5^{th} (55,2%) grade by 32 persons.



Homework assignment

The finding give the impression that the half of all questionnaire respondent have preferred to use a traditional assignment.

The C8. The Quiz Assignment has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (30,5%) by 18 person, and 5^{th} (55,9%) grade by 33 persons. The 4^{th} and 5^{th} rate have been given by 51 persons.



Even the Quiz assignment has got a good rate by half respondents the online questionnaire, so even this traditional exercise has been well evaluated.

C9. The guided conversation has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (31,6%) by 18 person, and 5^{th} (45,6%) grade by 26 persons, for 44 persons.



Conversations are a key topic in Connectivism and the rating goes from a 3rd grade to the 5th with a good score even if not at other rating.

C10. The learning material has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (32,2%) by 19 person, and 5^{th} (62,7%) grade by 37 persons,



Learning material

The learning material has got a great evaluation reaching the 5th grade for 37 persons and the 4th rate for 19 persons, reaching 56 on 63 respondents for the high rate. Also in forums discussion the learning material has been really appreciated.

C11. The teacher and co-authors' role has been rated as stimulating the engagement with a preference grade among the 4^{th} (28,8%) by 17 persons, and 5^{th} (61%) grade by 36 persons.



Teacher and co-authors' roles

Tecaher and co-auhors paly a great role, as well as tutor one. So the human side interaction is considered important in the overall e-learning process.

With two open questions the researcher has tried to capture which other tool had a great impact over users' engagement, or disengagement, in the learning experience.

With the first open question of the section c. respondents have been asked to list other key drivers engaging the e-learning process, ordering them by importance, with the opportunity to choose more than one. Among 63 respondents, 25 have given their preferences which have been depicted in the cloud according to these entries: generically listed as tools by 6 persons, activities such as sharing (persons), discussion (2 persons), interaction (2 persons) and peer assessment (2 persons), have been felt engaging. The contents have been listed engaging by 4 persons. Other key drivers have been listed as engaging by 2 persons for each: platform, the resources and the video lectures). At the end various and single tools have been chosen with only 1 preference: the teacher role, the translation, the use of google drive, etc.



These findings recall those already examined: all tools (without a specification) and contents are labelled genericcaly, while the specified name such as perr assessment or video lecures have received a lower prefence

Tools facilitating participants engagement

With the second open question of the section c. respondents have been asked to list other key drivers preventing their engagement in their e-learning process, ordering them by importance, with the opportunity to choose more than one. Among 63 respondents, 30 have given their preferences which have been depicted in the cloud according with the major insight that 13 persons have stated that any difficulty has been felt as disengaging their experience. The factors that have been felt as obstacles to the learning experience have grouped as: time constraints (5 persons), the whole MOOC has been considered too demanding (for 2 persons), the use of the English (2 persons), the platform and the absence of digital literacy for 4 persons. Other three responses generically have been listed, with one entries only: Galileo assignment, deadline, social networks.



Difficulties preventing participants engagement

The interesting findings is that any difficult was perceived to prevent the learning experience. Another finding is related to time contraints to end and work to all assignments and to participate which has been felt an obstacle.

Chapter 5: Conclusions, recommendations, further research and issues.

In this section the researcher presents her conclusions based on research questions, aim and objectives, trying to address some recommendations and proposing a further research.

The aim of the researcher has been: to understand to what extent User Experience strategies may positively impact users' perception in a digital context such as the E-learning ones given by MOOCs, and to what extent User Experience is mostly enhanced by the technical and, or, human factor.

The following two	objectives	have been	explored	for the	aim	nresented
The following two	objectives	nave been	capioicu	ior the	ann	presenteu.

Objective 1:	Chapter 4: Findings, analysis,			
to discover if User Experience	discussion, sec. b and sec. c			
strategies allow and enhance users'				
engagement in a digital learning				
context such as a MOOC.				
Objective 2:	Chapter 4: Findings, analysis,			
to identify and clarify User Experience	discussion, sec. b and sec. c			
key drivers that boost the use of a				
digital learning environment such as a				
MOOC .				
Conclusions based on research questions and objectives

Objective 1: to discover if User Experience strategies allow and enhance users' engagement in a digital learning context such as a MOOC

The User Experience have been taken in account to describe all strategies that could be exploited in a MOOC platform, so those by the technical side and those buy the human side. With the teacher and tutor management and back-end use of the platform it is possible to manage User Experience strategies and to enhance user engagement and the learning experience.

Objective 2: to identify and clarify User Experience key drivers that boost the use of a digital learning environment such as a MOOC.

Participants have felt to be engaged mostly with the human interaction with the overall class but mostly with teacher and tutor. The main issue has been to foster a true connectivist learning. The success has been achiedved by the side of the interactions among all participants but the guidance roles of teacher and tutor has played a great role. So the gap is to establish if for connectivism can be good to achieve a strong interaction, co-creation and collaboration even though the teacher and tutor play a leader role, or if a true connectivism should be really au-pair.

Another interesting note about the experience is the learning strategy is innovative but the preferred assignment have been those traditional (homeworks and quiz).

Recommendations and further research

The researcher has noted that some assignments have been felt demanding and that the overall structure has been considered at high level and demanding too. Another recommendation that she has got is to work more on and co-creation nd co-design too. Co-creation has been exploited in the meanwhile the MOOC was running and has been managed. Co-design has been managed too in the meanwhile but it should be important to design further DLPP MOOC edition with a questionnaire, focus group and online diaries with a select sample of previous participants.

Issues

The researcher has decided to write some lines more to present the most significative issues she had during the whole research and writing process. The first problem was to work on a clear research question. Secondly both aim and objectives were not so easy to explicit to herself and to make them understanble, measurable. Maxwell's statement (2005, p. 3) matches perfectly with reseaarcher's feelings: "Because a design always exists, it is important to make it explicit".

The main topics of this research have been the user engagement and the User Experience in a MOOC, both topic are connected with User and with a measurable experience and no other topics have been so challenging as this one, so difficult to make clear, understandable and measurable.

References

References, listed in APA style, have been divided in 4 sections: 1st part has been reserved to all documents useful for the overall research strategy (theoretical and practical researcher's steps); the 2nd and 3rd have been inserted to produce the Documentation analysis, the 2nd section related to the documentation specifically devoted to the DLPP MOOC or to EMMA, the 3rd section to provide details about EMMA project; the 4th section has been reserved to visit the specific websites.

References

- Alfieri, A., Feliciati, P. (2017). Gli archivi online per gli utenti: premesse per un modello di gestione della qualità. *JLIS.it*, 8(1), 22-37. DOI:10.4403/jlis.it-12269.
- Baek, J., & Shore, J. (2016). Promoting student engagement in MOOCs.
 Paper presented at the L@S 2016 Proceedings of the 3rd 2016 ACM
 Conference on Learning at Scale, 293-296.
 DOI:10.1145/2876034.2893437.
- Barak, M., Watted, A., & Haick, H. (2016). Motivation to learn in massive open online courses: Examining aspects of language and social engagement. *Computers and Education*, 94, 49-60. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2015.11.010.
- Battarbee, K., Koskinen, I. (2004). Co-experience: user experience as interaction., 1(1), 15-18.doi:10.1080/15710880412331289917.

- Baturay, M. H. (2015). An Overview of the World of MOOCs. Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences. 174(12), 427-433. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.685.
- Blythe, M., Overbeeke, K., Monk, A.F., & Wright, P.C. (2003). Funology: From usability to enjoyment (vol. 3). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- Burn, K., Cunningham, M., Waller, L., Walton, E., Walton, G., (2016). Capturing the student user experience (UX) in York and Loughborough University Library buildings. *Performance Measurement and Metrics*, 17 (2), 175-187.
- Connaway, L. S. (2013). Exploring shifting changes in user engagement. *NextSpace*, 20, 16-17. Retreived from: http://oclc.org/publications/nextspace/articles/issue20/exploringshiftin gchangesinusereng agement.en.html.
- Connaway, L. S., Hood, E. M., Lanclos, D., White, D., Le Cornu. (2013). A. Visitors and residents: what motivates engagement with the digital information environment? Information research (18)1 http://www.informationr.net/ir/18-1/paper556.html#.VncaFPnhCM9.
- Cormier, D. (2008). *The CCK08 MOOC Connectivism course, 1/4 way*. Available at: http://davecormier.com/edblog/2008/10/02/the-cck08mooc-connectivism-course-14-way/.
- Cormier, D., Siemens, G. (2010). Through the open door: open courses as research, learning, and engagement. *EDUCAUSE Review*, (4), 30-9.

- Consonni, C. (2010). Non-users' evaluation of digital libraries: A survey at the Università degli studi di Milano. *IFLA Journal*, 36(4), 325-331.
- Cresswell, J. W.(2007). *Qualitative inquiry &research design* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA : Sage .
- Creswell, J. W. (2014) Research design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dabbagh, N., Benson, A. D., Denham, A., Joseph, R., Al-Freih, M., Zgheib,
 G., Fake, H., & Guo, Z. (2016). Massive Open Online Courses. In N.
 Dabbagh, A. D. Benson, A. Denham, R. Joseph, M. Al-Freih, G.
 Zgheib, H. Fake, & Z. Guo, *Learning Technologies and Globalization: Pedagogical Frameworks and Applications* (pp. 9-13). Berlin:
 Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-22963-8 2.
- Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Introduction: Entering the field of qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin and Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.) *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (2nd. ed., pp. 1-18). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, YS. (1994). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In N. K.Denzin and Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.) *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (2nd. ed., pp. 1-28). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- De Freitas, S. I., Morgan, J., & Gibson, D. (2015). Will MOOCs transform learning and teaching in higher education? engagement and course

retention in online learning provision. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 46(3), 455-471. doi:10.1111/bjet.12268.

- Dobreva, M., O'Dwyer, A., Feliciati, P. (2012). Introduction: user studies for digital library development. In M. Dobreva, A. O'Dwyer & Feliciati P. (Eds), *User studies for digital library development* (1-17). London: Facet.
- Downes, S. (s.d.). *The MOOC guide*. Available at: https://sites.google.com/site/themoocguide/home.
- Downes, S. (2012). Connectivism and Connective Knowledge Essays on meaning and learning networks. Available at: http://www.downes.ca/files/books/Connective_Knowledge-19May2012.pdf.
- Downes, S. (April 9, 2013). What the 'x' in 'xMOOC' stands for. Retrieved from: https://plus.google.com/109526159908242471749/posts/LEwaKxL2 MaM.
- Eckerdal, A., Kinnunen, P., Thota, N., Nylén, A., Sheard, J., & Malmi, L. (2014). Teaching and learning with MOOCs: Computing academics' perspectives and engagement. Paper presented at the *ITICSE 2014 Proceedings of the 2014 Innovation and Technology in Computer Science Education Conference*, 9-14. doi:10.1145/2591708.2591740.
- Espada, J. P., Rodriguez, C. C., Garcia-Diaz, V., & Crespo, R. G. (2014). Method for analysing the user experience in MOOC platforms. Paper

presented at the 2014 International Symposium on Computers in Education, SIIE 2014, 157-162. doi:10.1109/SIIE.2014.7017722.

- Feliciati, P. (2012). Ask the users, il valore aggiunto della valutazione dei sistemi informativi culturali online coinvolgendo gli utenti: il caso del progetto 'Una città per gli archivi'. *Il Capitale Culturale. Studies on the Value of Cultural Heritage*, 5, 129-144. http://riviste.unimc.it/index.php/capcult/article/view/483.
- Feliciati, P. (2014). Convergere a valle. Lo studio del punto di vista degli utenti degli ambienti culturali digitali e l'esperienza del progetto Una Città per gli Archivi. In Ciotti, F. (Ed.), *Digital Humanities: progetti italiani ed esperienze di convergenza multidisciplinare* (pp. 89-112).
 Roma: Sapienza Università Editrice. http://digilab2.let.uniroma1.it/ojs/index.php/Quaderni_DigiLab/article /view/170.
- Feliciati, P. (2016). L'usabilità degli ambienti bibliotecari e archivistici digitali come requisito di qualità: contesto, modelli e strumenti di valutazione. JLIS.it. 7(1), 113-130. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4403/jlis.it-11512.
- Feliciati, P. Alfier, A. (2013a). Archives online from simple access to full use: towards the development of a user-centered quality model. *Archivi* & *Computer. Automazione e beni culturali* 23(2), 98-112.
- Feliciati, P. Alfier, A. (2013b). Archives on the Web and Users Expectations: Towards a Convergence with Digital Libraries. *Review of the National*

CenterforDigitization22,81-92.http://elib.mi.sanu.ac.rs/files/journals/ncd/22/ncd22081.pdf.

- Feliciati, P. Alfier, A. (2017). Gli archivi online per gli utenti: premesse per un modello di gestione della qualità. *JLIS.it*, 8(1). DOI: 10.4403/jlis.it-12269
- Flick, U. (2009). *An introduction to qualitative research* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Ford, N. (2015). Introduction to information behavior. London: Facet.
- Giusti, E. (2016). Tutor online per un MOOC: ascolto, interazione, multifunzionalità. *Bibelot*, 22(2). Available at: http://riviste.aib.it/index.php/bibelot/article/view/19792.
- Goldberg, L. R., Bell, E., King, C., O'Mara, C., McInerney, F., Robinson, A., & Vickers, J. (2015). Relationship between participants' level of education and engagement in their completion of the understanding dementia massive open online course approaches to teaching and learning. *BMC Medical Education*, 15(1). doi:10.1186/s12909-015-0344-z.
- Gray, D. E. (2014). *Doing Research in the Real World* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 105-117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Hill, P. (July 24, 2012). Four Barriers That MOOCs must overcome to build a sustainable model. Available at: http://mfeldstein.com/four-barriersthat-moocs-must-overcome-to-become-sustainable-model/.
- Khoo, Rozaklis and Hall: A survey of the use of ethnographic methods in the study of libraries and library users. *Library & Information Science Research*, 34(2), 82–91. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2011.07.010.
- Lallemand, .C., Gronier, G., Koenig, V. (2015). User experience: A concept without consensus? Exploring practitioners' perspectives throu.gh an international survey. *Computers in Human Behavior*. 43(February), 35-48.
- Laurel, B. (1993). Computers as theatre. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Law, E. L-C., Hvannberg, E.T., & Hassenzahl, M. (Eds.). (2006). User
 Experience: Towards a unified view: Proceedings of the 2nd COST294 MAUSE International Open Workshop, 14th October 2006, Oslo,
 Norway. Retrieved from: http://cost294.org/upload/408.pdf.
- Law, E., Roto, V., Hassenzahl, M., Vermeeren, A., Kort, J. (2009).
 Understanding, Scoping and Defining User eXperience: A Survey Approach. To appear in Proc. CHI'09, ACM SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. doi: 10.1145/1518701.1518813.
- Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. (1995). *Ethnography: Principles in practice*, 2nd ed. London: Routledge.

- Hassenzahl, M., & Tractinsky, N. (2006). User experience a research agenda. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, 25(2), 91-97. doi: 10.1080/01449290500330331.
- Hassenzahl, M. (2008). User Experience (UX): Towards an experiential perspective on product quality. In *Proceedings of the 20th International conference of the association francophone d'interaction hommemachine* (IHM 2008), Metz, France. DOI: 10.1145/1512714.1512717.
- Hew, K. F. (2016). Promoting engagement in online courses: What strategies can we learn from three highly rated MOOCS. British Journal of Educational Technology, 47(2), 320-341. doi:10.1111/bjet.12235.
- Kelly, D. (2009). Methods for evaluating interactive information retrieval systems with users. *Foundations and Trends in Information Retrieval*, 3, 1–224.
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic enquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Lindquist, T., & Long, H. (2011). How can educational technology facilitate student engagement with online primary sources?: A user needs assessment. *Library Hi Tech*, 29(2), 224-241. doi:10.1108/07378831111138152.
- MacDonald, C. M. (2015). User Experience Librarians: User Advocates, User Researchers, Usability Evaluators, or All of the Above? Proceedings of the 2015 Annual Meeting of the Association for

Information Science and Technology (ASIS&T 2015),72, ASIS, Silver Spring, MD.

- McAuley, A., Stewart, B., Siemens, G., & Cormier, D. (2010). The MOOC model for digital practice. Retrieved from: www.elearnspace.org/Articles/MOOC_Final.pdf.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2005). *Qualitative research design: An iterative approach*, 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Maxwell, J.A., & Loomis, D. (2002). Mixed methods design: An alternative approach. In A. Tashakkori & C. Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 241-271). Thousan Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation: Revised and Expanded from Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass (Wiley).
- Morrison, D. (April 22, 2013). The Ultimate Student Guide to xMOOCs and cMOOCs. Available at: http://moocnewsandreviews.com/ultimate-guide-to-xmoocs-and-cmoocso/.
- Moskal, P., Thompson, K., & Futch, L. (2015). Enrollment, engagement, and satisfaction in the blendkit faculty development open, online course. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Network*, 19(4). Retrieved from www.scopus.com.

- O'Brien, H. L. (2009), Exploring engagement in the qualitative research process. Proc. Am. Soc. Info. Sci. Tech., 46: 1–4. doi:10.1002/meet.2009.1450460347.
- O'Brien, H. L., & Toms, E. G. (2008). What is user engagement? A conceptual framework for defining user engagement with technology. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 59(6), 938-955. doi:10.1002/asi.20801.
- O'Brien, H. L., & Toms, E. G. (2013). Examining the generalizability of the user engagement scale (UES) in exploratory search. Information Processing and Management, 49(5), 1092-1107. doi:10.1016/j.ipm.2012.08.005.
- Obrist, M., Roto, V., Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila, K. (2009). User experience evaluation: do you know which method to use?. In CHI '09 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI EA '09). ACM, New York, NY, USA, (pp. 2763-2766). doi: https://doi.org/10.1145/1520340.1520401
- OCLC. (March 11, 2014). Evaluating digital services: a visitors and residents approach. Retrieved f:rom https://www.jisc.ac.uk/blog/evaluating-digital-services-a-visitors-and-residents-approach-11-mar-2014.
- Patton, M. Q.(2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA : Sage .

Pickard, A. J. (2007). Research methods in information. London: Facet.

- Phan, T., McNeil, S. G., & Robin, B. R. (2016). Students' patterns of engagement and course performance in a massive open online course. *Computers and Education*, 95, 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2015.11.015.
- Rogani, J. F. (2007). Library consortia and digital services: Users' perceptions at the university of calabria. *New Library World*, 108(11-12), 504-525.
- Rosati, L. (2 April, 2017). *Come abbiamo riprogettato l'homepage di Repubblica.it*. Available at: http://lucarosati.it/blog/come-abbiamoriprogettato-repubblica.
- Rossman, G., & Rallis, S. F. (2012). *Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Salarelli, A., Tammaro, A. M. (2006). *La biblioteca digitale* (2nd. ed.). Milano: Bibliografica.
- Schmidt, A., & Etches, A. (2014). Useful, Usable, Desiderable: Applying User Experience Design to your Library. Chicago:ALA TechSource, an imprint of the American Library Association.
- Siemens, G. (20004). *Connectivism: A learning theory for a digital age*. Retrieved from: http://www.elearnspace.org/Articles/connectivism.htm.
- Siemens, G. (2006). *Knowing knowledge*. Available at: http://ltc.umanitoba.ca/wikis/KnowingKnowledge/index.php/Main _Page.

- Siemens, G. (2008). *MOOC or mega-connectivism course*. Availabel at: http://ltc.umanitoba.ca/connectivism/?p=53.
- Siemens, G. (2009). Socialization as information objects. Available at: http://www.connectivism.ca/?p=127.
- Siemens, G. (July 25, 2012). *MOOCs are really a platform*. Available at: http://www.elearnspace.org/blog/2012/07/25/moocs-are-really-a-platform/.
- Stake, R.E. (2003). Case Studies. In Denzin, N.K. &Lincoln, Y. (Eds) Strategies of Qualitative Inquiry (2nd. ed., pp. 134-164). London: Sage.
- Tammaro, A. M. (2006). The Digital library users: a case study on needs, expectations and skills. Paper presented at Fondazione Rinascimento Digitale Conference, Florence.
- Tammaro, A. M. (2008). User perceptions of digital libraries: A case study in Italy. *Performance Measurement and Metrics*, 9(2), 130-137.
- Tammaro, A. M. (2015). The participatory digital library: the challenges for the librarians. *AIB Studi*, 55(2), 193-195. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2426/aibstudi-11215.
- Tammaro, A. M., Luzzi, D., Casati, S. (Eds.). (2006). Biblioteche digitali in Italia: scenari, utenti, staff. Fondazione Rinascimento Digitale. Available at: http://hdl.handle.net/1889/1706.
- Tullis, T., & Albert, B. (2013). Measuring the User Experience: Collecting,Analyzing, and Presenting Usability Metrics (2nd ed.). Amsterdam:Kaufman.

- Universities UK. (2013). Massive open online courses: Higher education's digital moment? Retrieved from: http://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/highereducation/Documents/2013/Ma ssiveOpenOnlineCourses.pdf.
- Vaibhav, A., & Gupta, P. (2014). Gamification of MOOCs for increasing user engagement. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE International Conference on MOOCs, Innovation and Technology in Education, IEEE MITE 2014, 290-295. doi:10.1109/MITE.2014.7020290.
- Verheul, I., Tammaro, A. M., Witt, S. (2011). Digital Library Futures: User perspectives and institutional strategies. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Walton, G. (2015). What User Experience (UX) Means for Academic Libraries. New Review of Academic Librarianship 21(1), 1-3. doi:10.1080/13614533.2015.1001229.
- Wang, Z., Anderson, T., Chen, L., & Barbera, E. (2016). Interaction pattern analysis in cMOOCs based on the connectivist interaction and engagement framework. British Journal of Educational Technology, doi:10.1111/bjet.12433
- Wilson, T. D. (1999). Models in information behaviour research. *Journal of Documentation*, 55(3), 249 270. doi:10.1108/EUM000000007145.
- Yin, R. K. (2104). Case study research: Design and methods, 5th ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Yuan. L. (May 11, 2015). MOOCs and Open Education Timeline (updated!). Available at: http://blogs.cetis.org.uk/cetisli/2015/05/11/moocs-andopen-education-timeline-updated/.

Document analysis: DLPP and EMMA reflections and EMMA outcomes and deliverables

DLPP and EMMA reflections

- Boamah, E. (April 17, 2016). Curation and preservation issues in Digital Libraries: Discussions in EMMA MOOC. Retrieved from: http://www.academia.edu/25825512/Digital_Libraries_in_Principles_ and_Practice_course_in_EMMA_MOOC_Discussions_on_Curation_ and_Preservation_Issues [print version], https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=45GjSqvSmXM [video version].
- Giusti, E. (2016). Tutor online per un MOOC: ascolto, interazione, multifunzionalità. *Bibelot*, 22(2). Retrieved from: http://riviste.aib.it/index.php/bibelot/article/view/19792.
- Ipsos Public Affairs (July 2016). Ipsos report: Students' MOOC evaluation, Uni PR Digital Library in Principle and practice [internal report on power point format].
- Tammaro, A. M. (March 7, 2016). Un MOOC sulla Digital Library. Retrieved from: https://annamariatammaro.com/2016/03/07/un-moocsulla-digital-library/.
- Tammaro, A. M. (April 26, 2016). Un MOOC sulla biblioteca digitale nellapiattaformaEMMA.Retrievedfrom:

https://annamariatammaro.com/2016/04/26/un-mooc-sulla-bibliotecadigitale-nella-piattaforma-emma/.

- Tammaro, A. M. (June 5, 2016). *MOOC Digital Library in principle and practice: risultati preliminari* (rapporto interno).
- Tammaro, A. M. (June 6, 2016). Open Education: la condivisione facilita la formazione continua. Retrieved from: https://annamariatammaro.com/2016/06/11/open-education-la-condivisione-facilita-la-formazione-continua/.
- Tammaro, A. M. (July 19, 2016). Putting the users into the Digital Library: Reflection on a MOOC teaching experience. *DLIS, Digital Libraries and Information Sciences*. Retrieved from: https://dlis.hypotheses.org/642.
- Tammaro, A. M., Ciancio, L., De Rosa, R., Pantò, E., & Nascimbeni, F. (2017). *Digital Libraries in Open Education: the Italy case*. Paper presented at 13th Italian Research Conference on Digital Libraries (IRCDL). Retrieved from: http://ircdl2017.unimore.it/papers/IRCDL_2017_paper_21.pdf

EMMA outcomes and deliverables ⁷:

Outcomes

"The EMMA team are working hard to create the outcomes promised in the project proposal. Many of these outcomes are public and will be published here when they are available. The following list shows the main public project outcomes" (EMMA: http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/project/outcomes/).

- Interface specification and Navigation guidelines
- Dissemination Materials (3 versions)
- Aggregator Description
- Evaluation Methodology
- User Manual (3 versions)
- Market Research Report
- Service and Content Deployment
- Pilot Cycle Evaluations
- Definition of a European MOOC model
- Final report

Deliverables

D2.1 Aggregator Description

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D2.1_Aggregator_UNINA.pdf

⁷ Quotations have been copied by EMMA website specific page (http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/project/outcomes/) . EMMA document analysis references have been retrieved from the EMMA website where the documents are openly available at the link already given.

D2.2 User Manual

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D2.2_User_Manual_UNINA.pdf

D2.2.1 User Manual

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D2.2.1 UserManual_UNINA.pdf

D.2.2.2 User Manual

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D2.2.2_UserManual.pdf

D2.5 Interface specification and Navigation guidelines

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D2.5_Interface_specification_UNI

NA.pdf

D4.2 Evaluation Methodology

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D4.2_Evaluation_Methodology_Ip sos pdf.pdf

D5.2 Service and Content Deployment

Retrieved from:

```
http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D5.2_Service_and_Content_Deplo
yment_UOC_Final.pdf
```

D5.2 Editorial Policy

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D5.2_Complement_EMMA_Edito rial Policy.pdf

90

D5.2 Terms and Conditions

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D5.2_Complement_PrivacyPolicy

_TermsAndUse.pdf

D6.2 Dissemination materials

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D6.2_Dissemination_materials_A

TIT.pdf

D6.2.1 Dissemination materials

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D6.2.1_Dissemination_materials_

ATIT.pdf

D6.2.2 Dissemination Materials

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D6.2.2_Dissemination_materials.p df

D7.1 Market Research Report

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D7.1_EMMA_Market_Research_

Report1.pdf

D2.1 Aggregator Description

Retrieved from:

http://project.europeanmoocs.eu/deliverables/D2.1_Aggregator_UNINA.pdf

Websites

- *The Digital Library in principle and practice MOOC.* https://platform.europeanmoocs.eu/course_biblioteca_digitale_in_teor ia_
- EMMA (European Multiple MOOC aggregator): https://platform.europeanmoocs.eu/.

Federica Web Learning team: http://www.federica.unina.it/